

Guarantee and Indemnity

PARTIES

The Local Authorities Listed in Schedule 1

Initial Guarantors

TEL Security Trustee (LGFA) Limited

Security Trustee

CONTENTS

1.	INTERPRETATION	1
2.	GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY	5
3.	OBLIGATIONS OF THE GUARANTORS	5
4.	NATURE AND EXTENT OF OBLIGATIONS	8
5.	RIGHTS OF THE SECURITY TRUSTEE	9
6.	GROSS-UP	10
7.	CURRENCY INDEMNITY	10
8.	DEFAULT INTEREST	11
9.	REPRESENTATIONS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	11
10.	ATTORNEY	13 12
11.	LIABILITY NOT PREJUDICED	13
12.	CHANGES TO THE PARTIES	14
13.	NOTICES	15
14.	COSTS	16
15.	RELEASE AND REINSTATEMENT	16
16.	MISCELLANEOUS	19
17.	COUNTERPARTS	21
18.	GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION	22 21
19.	NO CROWN GUARANTEE	22
	SCHEDULE 1	31 25
	Initial Guarantors	31 25
	SCHEDULE 2	37 31
	Conditions precedent to be delivered by an Additional Guarantor	37 31
	SCHEDULE 3	38 32
	Form of Demand	38 32
	SCHEDULE 4	40 34
	Form of Guarantor Accession Deed	40 34
	SCHEDULE 1	42 36
	Existing Guarantors	42 36
	SCHEDULE 5	43 37
	Form of Further Principal Debt Release Request	43 37
	Form of Further Principal Debt Release	45 39
	SCHEDULE 6	46 40
	Form of Full Release Request	46 40
	Form of Full Release	47 41

~~DEED~~ dated ~~2011~~

DEED dated 7 December 2011 (as amended and restated by the deed to which this deed is attached as an appendix)

PARTIES

The Local Authorities Listed in Schedule 1
("Initial Guarantors")

TEL Security Trustee (LGFA) Limited
("Security Trustee")

INTRODUCTION

- A. In consideration for the Guaranteed Creditors agreeing to make financial accommodation and/or other services available to the Principal Debtor from time to time at the request of each Initial Guarantor (as evidenced by an Initial Guarantor's entry into this deed), the Initial Guarantors have agreed to enter into this deed at the request of the Principal Debtor.
- B. The Security Trustee has agreed to enter into this deed as security trustee for the Guaranteed Creditors. The Security Trustee holds the benefit of this deed on trust for the Guaranteed Creditors under the terms of the Security Trust Deed.

COVENANTS

1. INTERPRETATION

1.1 **Definitions in the Multi-~~Issuer~~issuer Deed:** Words and expressions defined in the Multi-~~Issuer~~issuer Deed (including in the Conditions to the Multi-~~Issuer~~issuer Deed) and used in this deed shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the meanings given to them in the Multi-~~Issuer~~issuer Deed.

1.2 **Definitions:** In addition, in this deed, unless the context otherwise requires:

"**Additional Guarantor**" means a person which has become an Additional Guarantor in accordance with clause 12.4.

"**Additional Relevant Proportion**" has the meaning given to it in clause 3.4(c).

"**Annual Rates Income**" has the meaning given in the Multi-issuer Deed, as if references therein to "Issuer" were to "Guarantor".

"**Beneficiary**" has the meaning given to it in the Security Trust Deed.

"**Defaulting Guarantor**" has the meaning given to it in clause 3.4(c).

"**Demand**" means a demand for payment on a Guarantor in the relevant form, or substantially in the relevant form, set out in schedule 3, signed by on or behalf of the Security Trustee.

"**Demand Confirmation**" has the meaning given to it in clause ~~3.5(e)~~ 3.5(e).

"**Disclosure Information**" has the meaning given to it in clause 16.12(a)(i).

"**Full Release**" means a letter from the Security Trustee to a Guarantor in the form, or substantially in the form, of part 2 of schedule 6.

"**Full Release Request**" means a letter from a Guarantor to the Security Trustee in the form, or substantially in the form, of part 1 of schedule 6.

"**Further Principal Debt Release**" means a letter from the Security Trustee to a Guarantor in the form, or substantially in the form, of part 2 of schedule 5.

"**Further Principal Debt Release Date**" has the meaning given to it in clause 15.1(g) ~~15.1(fg)~~.

"**Further Principal Debt Release Request**" means a letter from a Guarantor to the Security Trustee in the form, or substantially in the form, of part 1 of schedule 5.

"**Further Relevant Amount**" has the meaning given to it in clause 3.4(e).

"**Guarantor Accession Deed**" means a deed in the form, or substantially in the form, of schedule 4.

"**Guaranteed Creditor**" means each creditor of the Principal Debtor that is a Beneficiary under or pursuant to the terms of the Security Trust Deed.

"**Guaranteed Money**" means, subject to clauses ~~15.1(f) and (g)~~ 15.1(f) and 15.1(g), when used with reference to a Guarantor, all amounts which that Guarantor (whether alone, or jointly, or jointly and severally with any other person) is, or may at any time become, liable (whether actually or contingently) to pay to the Security Trustee under this deed (for the benefit of any Guaranteed Creditor) and, when used without reference to a particular Guarantor, means the Guaranteed Money of the Guarantors collectively, and a reference to Guaranteed Money includes any part of it.

"**Guarantor**" means an Initial Guarantor or an Additional Guarantor, unless it has ceased to be a Guarantor pursuant to clause 15.2 or clause 15.3.

"**Indemnified Guarantor**" has the meaning given to it in clause ~~3.5(b)~~ 3.5(b).

"**LGFA Finance Document**" has the meaning given to it in the Security Trust Deed.

"**Local Authority**" means a Local Authority as defined in the Act.

"**Multi-~~Issuer~~ issuer Deed**" means the deed dated ~~on or about the date of this deed~~ 7 December 2011 between the Principal Debtor and various Local Authorities entitled "Multi-~~Issuer~~ issuer Deed".

"**Non-Defaulting Guarantor**" has the meaning given to it in clause 3.4(c).

"**Partially Released Guarantor**" has the meaning given to it in clause 3.4(e).

"**Principal Debt**" means all amounts of any nature which the Principal Debtor (whether alone, or jointly, or jointly and severally with any other person) is, or may at any time become, liable

(whether actually or contingently) to pay or deliver to one or more Guaranteed Creditors (whether alone, or jointly, or jointly and severally with any other person) under, pursuant to, or arising out of a LGFA Finance Document, and a reference to Principal Debt includes any part of it.

"Principal Debtor" means New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited, a company incorporated in New Zealand.

"Relevant Amount" has the meaning given to it in clause 3.4(b).

"Relevant Financial Year" has the meaning given to it in clause ~~3.4(b)~~ 3.4(b).

"Relevant Proportion" has the meaning given to it in clause 3.4(b).

"Sale Notice" has the meaning given in the Shareholders' Agreement.

"Security Trust Deed" means the deed dated ~~on or about the date of this deed~~ 7 December 2011 between the Security Trustee and the Principal Debtor entitled "Security Trust Deed".

"Shortfall Amount" has the meaning given to it in clause 3.4(c).

"Transaction Documents" means:

- (a) the "Transaction Documents" as defined in the Multi-~~Issuer~~ issuer Deed; and
- (b) the LGFA Finance Documents,

and any document or agreement entered into by the Principal Debtor or any Guarantor (amongst others) for the purpose of amending, supplementing or novating any of the above.

"Verified Statements" has the meaning given to it in clause 16.12(a)(ii).

1.3 **References:** Except to the extent that the context otherwise requires, any reference in this deed to:

the **"dissolution"** of a person includes the bankruptcy of that person or, where that person is a company, its liquidation, administration, deed of company arrangement, creditors' compromise, scheme of arrangement or removal from the register, and also includes any equivalent or analogous procedure under the law of any relevant jurisdiction.

"government" includes central or local government, and **"governmental agency"** includes any government or any governmental, semi-governmental or judicial entity or authority, or legislative body, or any person or body charged with the administration of any law. It also includes any self-regulatory organisation established under statute or any stock exchange.

"law" includes common or customary law and any constitution, decree, judgment, legislation, order, ordinance, regulation, statute or other legislative measure, in each case of any jurisdiction whatever and **"lawful"** shall be construed accordingly.

"person" includes an individual, firm, company, corporation, unincorporated body of persons, organisation or trust, and any governmental agency or authority, in each case whether or not having separate legal personality.

"**security**" includes a guarantee or indemnity, a security interest (as construed and defined in the Personal Property Securities Act 1999), mortgage, lien, pledge, any interest in land of a security nature, any other security arrangement creating in effect security for the payment of a monetary obligation or the observance of any other obligation, and any other arrangement having like economic effect over any property, assets or revenues.

"**tax**" includes any present or future tax, levy, impost, duty, rate, charge, fee, deduction or withholding of any nature and whatever called, imposed or levied by any government, governmental agency or authority, together with any interest, penalty, charge, fee or other amount imposed or made on, or in relation to, any of the foregoing.

1.4 **Miscellaneous:** Unless the context otherwise requires:

- (a) Headings are inserted for convenience only and do not affect interpretation of this deed.
- (b) References to a person include that person's successors, permitted assigns, executors and administrators (as applicable).
- (c) Unless the context otherwise requires the singular includes the plural and vice versa and words denoting individuals include other persons and vice versa.
- (d) References to any legislation or to any provision of any legislation are deemed to be references to that legislation or provision as from time to time amended, re-enacted or substituted and, unless the context otherwise requires, shall also include any statutory instruments issued under any such legislation or provision.
- (e) References to any document (however described) shall include references to such document as modified, novated, supplemented, varied or replaced from time to time.
- (f) Except where inconsistent with the context, the expression "**at any time**" also means from time to time.
- (g) A reference to "**including**", "**for example**" or "**such as**", when introducing an example, does not limit the meaning of the words to which the example relates to that example or examples of a similar kind.
- (h) Unless otherwise stated, reference to a clause, schedule or part of a schedule is a reference to a clause of, or schedule to, or part of a schedule to, this deed.

1.5 **Capacity of the Security Trustee:**

- (a) The parties acknowledge that the Security Trustee holds the benefit of this deed on trust for the Guaranteed Creditors. Notwithstanding any other provision of any LGFA Finance Document, any liability incurred by the Security Trustee pursuant to this deed can be enforced against the Security Trustee only to the extent to which it can be satisfied out of the assets subject to the Security Trust Deed. This limitation of the Security Trustee's liability applies notwithstanding any other provision of this deed (other than paragraph (c)) and extends to:

- (i) all liabilities and obligations of the Security Trustee in any way connected with any representation, warranty, conduct, omission, agreement or transaction relating to any LGFA Finance Document; and
 - (ii) every delegate, attorney, agent or other similar person appointed by the Security Trustee.
- (b) Subject to paragraph (a), the Beneficiaries may not sue the Security Trustee personally or seek the appointment of a liquidator, administrator, receiver or similar person to the Security Trustee or prove in any liquidation, administration or arrangement of or affecting the Security Trustee.
- (c) Paragraphs (a) and (b) will not apply to any liability of the Security Trustee arising out of the fraud, gross negligence, wilful default or wilful breach of trust of or by the Security Trustee.
- (d) In addition to the rights and trusts conferred on the Security Trustee by any LGFA Finance Document, the Security Trustee shall have all the rights, privileges and immunities which gratuitous trustees have or may have in New Zealand, even though it is entitled to remuneration.

2. GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY

- 2.1 **Guarantee:** Each Guarantor guarantees to the Security Trustee, for the benefit of the Guaranteed Creditors, the due payment or delivery by the Principal Debtor of the Principal Debt.
- 2.2 **Continuing guarantee:** In relation to each Guarantor the guarantee in this deed is a continuing guarantee and shall operate irrespective of any intervening payment, settlement of account or other matter or thing whatever, until the relevant Guarantor has received a Full Release from the Security Trustee pursuant to clause 15.2 or a written release from the Security Trustee pursuant to clause 15.3.
- 2.3 **Indemnity:** Each Guarantor indemnifies the Security Trustee, for the benefit of the Guaranteed Creditors, against:
 - (a) all claims, liabilities, damages, losses and payments; and
 - (b) all costs, charges and expenses (including legal expenses on a full indemnity basis and goods and services and similar taxes thereon),

suffered, incurred or sustained by any of the Guaranteed Creditors at any time as a direct or indirect consequence of any Principal Debt not being recoverable from a Guarantor under the guarantee given in clause 2.1, including as a result of the obligation to pay the Principal Debt becoming void, voidable or unenforceable.

3. OBLIGATIONS OF THE GUARANTORS

- 3.1 **Payment:** If the Principal Debtor does not pay any Principal Debt to any Guaranteed Creditor on its due date, each Guarantor shall upon demand being made in accordance with clause 3.4 pay to the Security Trustee (for the benefit of the Guaranteed Creditors) that Principal

Debt in accordance with clause 3.4 (whether or not demand for payment has been made on the Principal Debtor or any other person).

3.2 **Payments to be free and clear:** The Guaranteed Money shall be paid:

- (a) free and clear of any restriction or condition;
- (b) free and clear of and (except to the extent required by law) without any deduction or withholding on account of any tax; and
- (c) without any deduction or withholding on account of any other amount, whether by way of set-off, counterclaim or otherwise.

3.3 **Cleared funds:** Any Guaranteed Money received by the Security Trustee shall not satisfy a Guarantor's obligation to pay such amount until it is cleared and immediately available to the Security Trustee.

3.4 **Demands:**

- (a) The Security Trustee shall not make any demand for payment on a Guarantor under this deed except in accordance with this clause 3.4.
- (b) Subject to paragraph (e), if the Security Trustee wishes to make demand for payment of an amount (a "**Relevant Amount**") under this deed, it shall deliver a Demand to each Guarantor requiring the Guarantor to pay the proportion of the Relevant Amount (or, if sub-paragraph (e)(ii) applies, the proportion of that part of the Relevant Amount that is not a Further Relevant Amount) that the Guarantor's Annual Rates Income for the most recent financial year in respect of which all Guarantors have completed and adopted annual reports in accordance with sections 98 and 99 of the Act before the date of the Demand (the "**Relevant Financial Year**") bears to the aggregate Annual Rates Income of all Guarantors for the Relevant Financial Year (for each Guarantor, its "**Relevant Proportion**").
- (c) Subject to paragraph (e), if one or more Guarantors (each a "**Defaulting Guarantor**") fails to pay in full its Relevant Proportion of a Relevant Amount within two Business Days after receipt of a Demand under paragraph (b) (the aggregate of all amounts unpaid by the Defaulting Guarantors by the end of that period being the "**Shortfall Amount**"), the Security Trustee may deliver a further Demand to each Guarantor other than the Defaulting Guarantors (each a "**Non-Defaulting Guarantor**") requiring that Non-Defaulting Guarantor to pay the proportion of the Shortfall Amount that its Annual Rates Income for the Relevant Financial Year bears to the aggregate Annual Rates Income of all Non-Defaulting Guarantors for the Relevant Financial Year (for each Non-Defaulting Guarantor, its "**Additional Relevant Proportion**").
- (d) Subject to paragraph (e), if one or more Non-Defaulting Guarantors fails to pay in full its Additional Relevant Proportion of a Shortfall Amount within two Business Days after receipt of a Demand under paragraph (c) (including pursuant to the operation of this paragraph (d)), the Security Trustee may deliver a further Demand to each other Non-Defaulting Guarantor, and the provisions of paragraph (c) (and, in the event of a further subsequent default, this paragraph (d)) shall apply to the relevant shortfall amount (as if it were a "Shortfall Amount") and such other Non-Defaulting Guarantors (such that the "Additional Relevant Proportion" is

determined having regard only to the Annual Rates Income of such Non-Defaulting Guarantors, and no other Guarantors). For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree that paragraph (c) and this paragraph (d) shall, in respect of each Relevant Amount, continue to apply until the Relevant Amount has been paid in full to the Security Trustee.

- (e) If, by reason of having received a Further Principal Debt Release, one or more Guarantors (each a "**Partially Released Guarantor**") is not liable under this deed (by reason of the operation of clause ~~15.1(f) or (g)~~ 15.1(f) or 15.1(g)) in respect of:
 - (i) all of a Relevant Amount, paragraphs (b), (c) and (d) shall apply in relation to that Relevant Amount only in respect of the Guarantors other than the Partially Released Guarantors;
 - (ii) part of a Relevant Amount (a "**Further Relevant Amount**"), the Security Trustee must deliver a separate Demand in respect of the Further Relevant Amount to each of the Guarantors other than the Partially Released Guarantors, and the provisions of paragraphs (b), (c) and (d) shall apply in relation to the Further Relevant Amount (as if it were a "Relevant Amount") only in respect of those Guarantors.

3.5 Proportionate sharing of liabilities:

- (a) It is the intention of the Guarantors that each Relevant Amount, and each Further Relevant Amount, shall be borne by the Guarantors, or the relevant Guarantors, as applicable, in accordance with their respective Relevant Proportions.
- (b) If one or more Guarantors or relevant Guarantors contributes more in payment of a Relevant Amount or a Further Relevant Amount, as applicable, pursuant to the operation of clause 3.4 than its Relevant Proportion of that Relevant Amount or Further Relevant Amount, as applicable (each such Guarantor being an "**Indemnified Guarantor**"), each Guarantor or relevant Guarantor, as applicable, other than the Indemnified Guarantors shall indemnify each Indemnified Guarantor upon demand in respect of each such excess amount.
- (c) In making payment in respect of excess amounts under the indemnity in paragraph (b), account shall be taken of any amounts which an Indemnified Guarantor has actually received or recovered by reason of having exercised (whether through the Security Trustee or otherwise) any right (including of subrogation) against the Principal Debtor, in respect of the Relevant Amount or the Further Relevant Amount.
- (d) Subject to paragraph (c), each Guarantor or relevant Guarantor will be required to make indemnity payments under this clause 3.5 until all such Guarantors have contributed (whether to the Security Trustee or to Indemnified Guarantors) their Relevant Proportion of the Relevant Amount or the Further Relevant Amount, as applicable, as contemplated by paragraph (a).
- (e) Where the Security Trustee has, following receipt of a written request from an Indemnified Guarantor, confirmed (in writing) ("**Demand Confirmation**") that:
 - (i) no Demand is outstanding; and

- (ii) the Security Trustee has not (as at the date of such Demand Confirmation) received any request under the Security Trust Deed to make a Demand,

an Indemnified Guarantor may exercise against the relevant Guarantors its right to be indemnified under this clause 3.5, provided however that, such Indemnified Guarantor must immediately cease seeking any such indemnity when a Demand is made.

3.6 No competition: No Guarantor shall (unless requested to do so by the Security Trustee):

- (a) take, accept or continue to hold any security from the Principal Debtor or any other person who has given any security to the Security Trustee or any other Guaranteed Creditor for any Principal Debt;
- (b) subject to clause ~~3.5(e)~~, 3.5(e), exercise any right or take the benefit of subrogation, contribution or indemnity, or require marshalling, or claim the benefit of any security now or in the future held by the Security Trustee or any other Guaranteed Creditor for the payment of any Principal Debt;
- (c) take steps to recover (whether directly or by set-off, counterclaim or otherwise), or accept, money or other property, or exercise, enforce or receive the benefit of any rights (including by way of set-off), in respect of any amount due (whether actually or contingently) from the Principal Debtor to that Guarantor; or
- (d) claim or prove in the dissolution of the Principal Debtor or any other person in competition with the Security Trustee or any other Guaranteed Creditor.

3.7 Guarantor to account: If, notwithstanding, and in breach of, clause 3.5 or clause 3.6, a Guarantor:

- (a) takes, accepts or continues to hold any such security, money or other property from the Principal Debtor, or from any person who has given any security to the Security Trustee or any other Guaranteed Creditor for any Principal Debt or receives the benefit of a set-off; or
- (b) proves in that Guarantor's own name in the dissolution of the Principal Debtor, or of any other person who has given any security to the Security Trustee or any other Guaranteed Creditor for any Principal Debt (whether or not the Security Trustee or, as applicable, that other Guaranteed Creditor has required that Guarantor to do so, or has consented to that Guarantor doing so), for all or any part of any amount due (whether actually or contingently) from the Principal Debtor or such other person to a Guarantor,

that Guarantor shall immediately pay or transfer to the Security Trustee all such security, money, other property or the benefit of set-off, or all amounts received by that Guarantor in relation to any such proof, and all interest accruing thereon, until the Principal Debt is discharged in full and, until that payment or transfer is made, shall hold such security, money or other property, or the benefit of that proof or set-off, and all interest thereon, on trust for the Security Trustee in an amount not exceeding the Principal Debt then outstanding.

4. NATURE AND EXTENT OF OBLIGATIONS

- 4.1 **Unconditional and irrevocable:** Each obligation of a Guarantor under this deed is, subject to clause 3.4, unconditional and irrevocable and enforceable notwithstanding that any instrument (negotiable or otherwise) relating to all or any part of the Principal Debt may still be outstanding at the date of enforcement.
- 4.2 **Liable as principal:** Each Guarantor's liability under this deed shall be as a principal debtor and not merely as a surety.
- 4.3 **Other securities:** This deed is in addition to and not in substitution for, is collateral to, and shall not prejudicially affect or be prejudicially affected by, any other security or right which the Security Trustee or any other Guaranteed Creditor may have in respect of any Principal Debt. Any security given by a Guarantor to the Security Trustee (whether given before or after the date of this deed) shall constitute security for the Guaranteed Money.
- 4.4 **Initial Documentation:** Each Initial Guarantor shall, on the date of this deed, deliver the following documents (each of which must be in form and substance satisfactory to the Security Trustee) to the Security Trustee:
- (a) a duly executed first ranking Security Stock Certificate in favour of the Security Trustee in respect of that Guarantor's obligations under this deed;
 - (b) a certificate of compliance for the purposes of section 118 of the Act in relation to the Guarantor's obligations under this deed and the Security Stock Certificate described in paragraph (a);
 - (c) a legal opinion addressed to the Security Trustee from legal counsel acceptable to the Security Trustee in relation to that Guarantor's entry into this deed and the issuance of the first ranking Security Stock Certificate described in paragraph (a);
 - (d) evidence that all necessary regulatory and statutory authorisations, consents, approvals and licences in relation to its entry into this deed and the issuance of the first ranking Security Stock Certificate described in paragraph (a) have been obtained and are current and satisfactory; and
 - (e) notification of the Annual Rates Income in the Financial Statements of the Guarantor in the most recent financial year for which all Initial Guarantors have prepared and adopted an annual report in accordance with sections 98 and 99 of the Act.

5. RIGHTS OF THE SECURITY TRUSTEE

- 5.1 **Discretions:** The Security Trustee may at any time:
- (a) determine whether or not to enforce this deed or any other security or right;
 - (b) enforce this deed without first taking steps or proceedings against the Principal Debtor or any other person;
 - (c) make any arrangement or compromise with the Principal Debtor or any other person which the Security Trustee thinks fit; and

- (d) retain, carry to an interest bearing suspense account, and appropriate at the Security Trustee's discretion, any amount received by the Security Trustee under this deed until the Principal Debt has been paid and satisfied in full.

5.2 **No prejudice:** The Security Trustee's rights under this deed are without prejudice, and in addition, to any other right to which the Security Trustee is at any time entitled (whether under this deed or by law, contract or otherwise), and subject to clause 3.4, may be exercised by the Security Trustee without prior notice to the relevant Guarantor, the Principal Debtor or any other person.

6. GROSS-UP

6.1 If a Guarantor is required by law to make any deduction or withholding from any amount paid or payable by that Guarantor under this deed then:

- (a) the relevant Guarantor shall ensure that any such deduction or withholding does not exceed the legal minimum and shall pay the amount required to be so deducted, withheld, or paid to the relevant authority before the date on which penalties attach thereto;
- (b) the amount payable by the relevant Guarantor in respect of which that deduction or withholding is required to be made shall, if the Principal Debtor would have been required to pay an increased amount had the Principal Debtor been required to make the relevant deduction or withholding, be increased to the extent necessary to ensure that after that deduction or withholding is made the Security Trustee receives and retains (free from any liability in respect of any such deduction or withholding) a net amount equal to the amount which the Security Trustee would have received and so retained had no such deduction or withholding been made; and
- (c) the relevant Guarantor shall promptly deliver to the Security Trustee a receipt issued by the applicable authority evidencing that such deduction or withholding has been made.

7. CURRENCY INDEMNITY

7.1 **Currency of payment:** Any amount which a Guarantor is required to pay under this deed in respect of the Principal Debt shall be paid in the currency in which the Principal Debtor is obliged to pay the corresponding amount.

7.2 **Extent of satisfaction of each Guarantor's obligation:** If any Guaranteed Money is received by the Security Trustee in a currency ("**first currency**") other than the currency ("**second currency**") in which it is payable (whether as a result of obtaining or enforcing an order or judgment, the dissolution of any person or otherwise), the amount received shall only satisfy the relevant Guarantor's obligation to pay such amount to the extent of the amount in the second currency which the Security Trustee is able, in accordance with reasonable practice, to purchase with the amount received in the first currency on the date of that receipt (or, if it is not practicable to make that purchase on that date, on the first date upon which it is practicable to do so).

7.3 **Indemnity:** Each Guarantor indemnifies the Security Trustee against:

- (a) any loss sustained by the Security Trustee as a result of the amount purchased by the Security Trustee in the second currency pursuant to clause 7.2 being less than the amount due; and
- (b) all costs and expenses incurred by the Security Trustee in purchasing the second currency.

8. DEFAULT INTEREST

- 8.1 **Default interest payable:** If a Guarantor fails to pay any Guaranteed Money when due ("**overdue amount**"), that Guarantor shall pay interest ("**default interest**") on that overdue amount from its due date until it is paid in full (both before and after any judgment) at the rate per annum determined by the Security Trustee to be equal to the aggregate of 5% per annum and the cost to the relevant Guaranteed Creditor of funding the overdue amount, as advised by the relevant Guaranteed Creditor to the Security Trustee and by the Security Trustee to the relevant Guarantor.
- 8.2 **Calculation of default interest:** Default interest shall be calculated and payable by reference to successive periods of a duration selected by the Security Trustee from time to time (or in the absence of such selection, a period of one month), each of which (other than the first, which shall begin on and include the due date) shall begin on the last day of the previous period, and shall be payable on the last day of each period in respect of which it is calculated and on the date of payment of each overdue amount. Any default interest which is not paid when due shall be added to the overdue amount in respect of which it is payable and shall itself bear interest in accordance with this clause 8.
- 8.3 **Credit to be given:** In calculating the amount of any default interest under this clause 8, credit shall be given, to the extent necessary to avoid any double counting, for any interest payable by the Principal Debtor in the nature of default interest which is included in the Principal Debt.

9. REPRESENTATIONS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

- 9.1 **Representations:** Each Guarantor represents and warrants to the Security Trustee in relation to itself that:
 - (a) **Status:** it is either a territorial authority or regional council named as a local authority in Schedule 2 to the Act;
 - (b) **Power:** it has the power generally to enter into, exercise its rights and perform and comply with its obligations under this deed and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party;
 - (c) **Authorisations:** it has taken all necessary action required on its part to authorise the entry into, execution and delivery of this deed and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party and the performance of all obligations expressed to be binding on it;
 - (d) **Obligations legally binding:** its obligations under this deed and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party constitute its legal, valid and binding obligations, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms (subject to laws

affecting creditors' rights generally and (as to enforceability) to equitable principles of general application);

- (e) **No conflict:** neither the entry by it into, nor the performance by it of, this deed and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party will:
 - (i) conflict with or result in a breach of, any agreement, document, arrangement, obligation or duty to which it is a party or by which it or any of its assets may be bound; or
 - (ii) violate or contravene any law to which it is subject;
- (f) **Protected transaction:** for the purposes of section 117 of the Act, the entry by the Guarantor into, and the performance by the Guarantor of, this deed and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party:
 - (i) is in compliance with the Act;
 - (ii) is not contrary to any provision of the Act;
 - (iii) is within the capacity, rights and powers of the Guarantor; and
 - (iv) is for a purpose authorised by either the Act or another Act; ~~and~~₁

provided that the Security Trustee acknowledges that section 117 of the Act does not apply to any CCO Guarantee given by the Guarantor in respect of a CCO Issuer; and

- (g) **Ranking of obligations:** its obligations under this deed are secured by the Debenture Trust Deed and rank, and will at all times rank, rateably and at least equally in right and priority of payment with all other first ranking secured money under the Debenture Trust Deed.

9.2 **Repetition:** Each Guarantor shall be deemed to repeat the representations and warranties in clause 9.1 on the first day of each month during the term of this deed by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing, until that Guarantor is released in full from its obligations under this deed.

9.3 **Acknowledgements:** Each Guarantor acknowledges:

- (a) for the benefit of the Security Trustee and each other Guaranteed Creditor, in entering into this deed, that it did not rely on any statement, representation, warranty or information of any nature provided to it by or on behalf of any person (including the Security Trustee, any other Guaranteed Creditor, the Principal Debtor or any other Guarantor);
- (b) that the Security Trustee is not under any duty to disclose information to a Guarantor, or to do or execute anything, relating to the affairs of the Principal Debtor with the Security Trustee; and
- (c) that the Security Trustee may disclose any information which the Security Trustee may have concerning a Guarantor to a potential assignee or any other person with

whom the Security Trustee may wish to enter into contractual relations in connection with any Principal Debt.

10. ATTORNEY

- 10.1 Each Guarantor irrevocably appoints the Security Trustee and every officer of the Security Trustee, individually, to be the attorney of that Guarantor ("**Attorney**") (with full power to delegate the Attorney's powers to any person for any period and to revoke any such delegation) to, on behalf of that Guarantor, do anything which, in the Attorney's opinion, is desirable to protect the Security Trustee's or any other Guaranteed Creditor's interests under this deed, and each Guarantor hereby ratifies anything done by the Attorney or any delegate in accordance with this clause.

11. LIABILITY NOT PREJUDICED

- 11.1 **Liability not prejudiced:** Neither the liability of any Guarantor, nor any of the rights of the Security Trustee, under this deed shall be affected or discharged by anything which, but for this clause 11.1, might operate to affect or discharge the liability of, or otherwise provide a defence to, that Guarantor (whether or not known to that Guarantor, the Security Trustee or any other person), including:

- (a) any limitation or incapacity of, or affecting, the Principal Debtor, the Security Trustee or any other Guaranteed Creditor;
- (b) the granting of any time, credit, indulgence or other concession, to the Principal Debtor or any other person by the Security Trustee or any other Guaranteed Creditor;
- (c) any amendment to, or variation of, this deed or any other document, or the Principal Debtor or a Guarantor not receiving notice of any such amendment or variation;
- (d) any other person joining in this deed or giving any other security, or failing or being incompetent to join in this deed or give any other security, or failing to become legally bound to the Security Trustee as intended under any such security;
- (e) the liability of the Principal Debtor or any other person to a Guaranteed Creditor in respect of any of the Principal Debt ceasing from any cause whatever (including release or discharge by a Guaranteed Creditor or the Security Trustee), or any other person failing to become legally bound to a Guaranteed Creditor or the Security Trustee as intended or to perform any of their respective obligations to a Guaranteed Creditor or the Security Trustee;
- (f) failure by the Principal Debtor or any other person to provide any security which has been requested by the Security Trustee or any other person;
- (g) any security held or taken in respect of, or any transaction relating to, any Principal Debt being void, voidable, unenforceable, defective or informal, or being released, partially released, discharged, partially discharged or varied in any way;

- (h) any compounding, compromise, release, abandonment, waiver, variation, relinquishment or renewal, of any agreements, securities, documents of title or assets, or any of the rights of the Guaranteed Creditors or the Security Trustee against the Principal Debtor or any other person;
- (i) the enforcement of, or failure to enforce, any rights of the Security Trustee or any other Guaranteed Creditors under this deed or any other document, or under any law;
- (j) the dissolution of the Principal Debtor or any other person, or the appointment of any receiver, receiver and manager, statutory manager, voluntary administrator, or similar person, or the establishment of any compromise, deed of company arrangement or other arrangement, in respect of the Principal Debtor or any other person;
- (k) the amalgamation, change in constitution, status or control, or reconstruction or reorganisation, of the Principal Debtor, the Security Trustee, any other Guaranteed Creditor or any other person;
- (l) any failure by the Security Trustee or any other Guaranteed Creditor to present, demand, or give notice in respect of, any negotiable instrument;
- (m) the making or granting by a Guaranteed Creditor (whether alone or together with any other person) to, or at the request of, the Principal Debtor (whether alone or together with any other person) of further advances or accommodation or the withdrawal or restriction by a Guaranteed Creditor of any advances or accommodation, or a Guarantor not receiving notice of any such making, granting, withdrawal or restriction;
- (n) any variation to the terms of, or replacement or rearrangement of, any advance made, or accommodation granted, by a Guaranteed Creditor (whether alone or together with any other person) to, or at the request of, the Principal Debtor (whether alone or together with any other person), or a Guarantor not receiving notice of any such variation, replacement or rearrangement;
- (o) the powers of any person purporting to act on behalf of the Principal Debtor in relation to the incurring of any Principal Debt proving to be defective in any respect;
- (p) anything done, or omitted or neglected to be done, by the Security Trustee or any other Guaranteed Creditor, whether in exercise of the rights, powers and remedies vested in the Security Trustee or any other Guaranteed Creditor by this deed or any other document, or otherwise;
- (q) the Principal Debtor or a Guarantor not receiving notice of any Local Authority becoming an Additional Guarantor or of any release under this deed (including, the Principal Debtor or a Guarantor not receiving a copy of any Further Principal Debt Release or Full Release in accordance with clause 15.1 or 15.2); or
- (r) any other matter or thing whatsoever, other than a release of this deed under clause 15.3 (or, as applicable, a Guarantor ceasing to be a Guarantor in accordance with clause 15.2).

12. CHANGES TO THE PARTIES

12.1 **Deed binding:** This deed is binding on, and is for the benefit of, the parties and their respective successors, permitted assigns and transferees.

12.2 **Guarantor may not assign:** No Guarantor may assign or transfer any of its rights or obligations under this deed without the prior written consent of the Security Trustee.

12.3 **Security Trustee may assign:** The Security Trustee may assign and transfer its rights and obligations under this deed to any successor security trustee appointed in accordance with the Security Trust Deed without the consent of any Guarantor. Any such successor security trustee is to have the same rights against the Guarantors under this deed as if named in this deed as the Security Trustee.

12.4 Additional Guarantors:

(a) A Local Authority:

- (i) who is to become a holder of ordinary shares in the Principal Debtor;
- (ii) who is to become an Issuer under the Multi-~~Issuer~~ issuer Deed; or
- (iii) who is an existing Issuer under the Multi-~~Issuer~~ issuer Deed and is required to accede to this deed as an Additional Guarantor,

may become an Additional Guarantor if:

- (iv) the Local Authority has delivered to the Security Trustee a duly completed and executed Guarantor Accession Deed; and
- (v) the Security Trustee has received all of the documents and other evidence listed in schedule 2 in relation to that Local Authority, each in form and substance satisfactory to the Security Trustee.

(b) The Security Trustee shall notify the relevant Local Authority and the Principal Debtor (who shall notify each other Guarantor) promptly upon being satisfied that it has received (in form and substance satisfactory to it) all the documents and other evidence listed in schedule 2.

13. NOTICES

13.1 **Writing:** Each notice or other communication to be given or made by a party under this deed shall:

- (a) **Writing:** be given or made in writing by facsimile, email or letter and be signed by the sender or an authorised officer of the sender;
- (b) **Address:** be given or made to that party at the address, email address or facsimile number, and marked for the attention of the person (if any), from time to time designated by that party to the other for the purposes of this deed;
- (c) **Deemed delivery:** not be effective until received by that party, and any such notice or communication shall be deemed to be received by that party:

- (i) (if given or made by letter) when left at the address of that party or five Business Days after being put in the post, postage prepaid, and addressed to that party at that address;~~or~~
- (ii) (if given or made by facsimile) upon production of a transmission report by the machine from which the facsimile was sent which indicates that the facsimile was sent in its entirety to the facsimile number of the recipient;or
- (iii) (if given or made by email) when dispatched in tangible, readable form by the sender to the email address advised by the recipient from time to time,

provided that any notice or communication received or deemed received after 5 pm on a working day in the place to which it is sent, or on a day which is not a working day in that place, will be deemed not to have been received until the next working day in that place.

13.2 **Initial address and numbers:** The initial address, facsimile number and contact person (if any) designated by:

- (a) each Initial Guarantor, are set out next to the name of that Initial Guarantor in Schedule 1; and
- (b) the Security Trustee, are set out under its execution block in this deed.

14. COSTS

14.1 **Costs:** The Guarantors shall pay to the Security Trustee upon Demand all of the Security Trustee's costs, losses and liabilities on a full indemnity basis (including legal expenses on a full indemnity basis and goods and services and similar taxes thereon) incurred or sustained by the Security Trustee in connection with:

- (a) the negotiation, preparation, signing, administration and release of this deed;
- (b) the exercise, enforcement or preservation, or attempted or contemplated exercise, enforcement or preservation, of any right under this deed, or in suing for or recovering any Guaranteed Money; and
- (c) the consideration and/or granting of any waiver or consent under, or the consideration and/or giving of any variation or release of, this deed.

14.2 **Stamp duty and taxes:** The Guarantors shall pay all stamp, documentary, transaction, registration and other like duties and taxes (including fines, interest and penalties), if any, which may be payable or determined to be payable in connection with the signing, delivery, registration, performance, exercise of any right under, or enforcement or variation of, this deed, and each Guarantor shall indemnify the Security Trustee upon Demand against all liabilities with respect to, or resulting from, any delay or omission to pay any such duties or taxes.

15. RELEASE AND REINSTATEMENT

15.1 **Release of a Guarantor in respect of further Principal Debt:**

(a) A Guarantor may request to be released from all liability under this deed for or in relation to further Principal Debt to be incurred by the Principal Debtor, by delivering to the Security Trustee a duly completed Further Principal Debt Release Request.

(b) A Guarantor may not deliver a Further Principal Debt Release Request unless:

(i) that Guarantor:

(aa) is not a holder of ordinary shares in the Principal Debtor; or

(bb) has given a valid Sale Notice in accordance with the Shareholders' Agreement in respect of all of its ordinary shares in the Principal Debtor, and was in accordance with clause 10.6 of the Shareholders' Agreement permitted to transfer such shares within the period referred to in that clause, but despite its commercially reasonable endeavours to do so, was unable to effect such a transfer in that period; and

(ii) all amounts which may be or become payable by that Guarantor and, where the Guarantor is a CCO Shareholder, the relevant CCO Issuer(s) to the Principal Debtor under or in connection with the Multi-~~Issuer~~ Issuer Deed and the Securities issued by it and the relevant CCO Issuer(s) (if any) have been irrevocably paid in full.

(c) Where a Guarantor has delivered a Further Principal Debt Release Request in accordance with this clause 15, provided that all amounts which may be or become payable by that Guarantor and, where the Guarantor is a CCO Shareholder, the relevant CCO Issuer(s) to the Principal Debtor under or in connection with any financial indebtedness of the Guarantor or relevant CCO Issuer(s) owed to the Subscriber have been irrevocably paid in full, any arrangements for the provision of debt funding to the Guarantor and (if applicable) relevant CCO Issuer(s) by the Subscriber are immediately and irrevocably cancelled.

~~(c)~~(d) The Guarantor shall provide evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions in sub-paragraphs (b)(i) and (b)(ii) by delivering to the Security Trustee:

(i) in relation to the condition in sub-paragraph (b)(i) either:

(aa) a certified copy of the share register of the Principal Debtor showing that the Guarantor is not a holder of ordinary shares in the Principal Debtor; or

(bb) written confirmation signed by a director of the Principal Debtor that the condition at sub-paragraph (b)(i)(bb) has been met,

(and the Principal Debtor agrees to provide the documents described above upon receiving reasonable notice from the Guarantor and provided the condition in sub-paragraph (b)(i) has been satisfied); and

(ii) in relation to the condition in sub-paragraph (b)(ii), written confirmation signed by a director of the Principal Debtor that the condition has been met.

~~(d)~~(e) The Security Trustee must accept a duly completed Further Principal Debt Release Request if it is satisfied (acting reasonably) that the conditions set out in sub-paragraphs ~~(d)(i)~~~~(ed)(i)~~ and ~~(d)(ii)~~~~(ed)(ii)~~ have been met.

~~(e)~~(f) The Security Trustee shall notify the relevant Guarantor of its acceptance of the Further Principal Debt Release Request by delivering a Further Principal Debt Release to the relevant Guarantor and a copy to the Principal Debtor (who shall notify each other Guarantor).

~~(f)~~(g) From the date of the Further Principal Debt Release (for a Guarantor, the "**Further Principal Debt Release Date**"), the relevant Guarantor:

- (i) shall be released from all liability under this deed in respect of all Principal Debt for which the Principal Debtor becomes actually or contingently liable after the Further Principal Debt Release Date; and
- (ii) shall continue to be liable under this deed in respect of all Principal Debt for which the Principal Debtor is actually or contingently liable as at the Further Principal Debt Release Date (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any amounts actually or contingently payable under any swap transactions entered into by the Principal Debtor on or prior to the Further Principal Debt Release Date),

and the "Guaranteed Money" of that Guarantor shall be construed accordingly.

~~(g)~~(h) Notwithstanding any provision of this deed to the contrary, a Guarantor that has received a Further Principal Debt Release under this clause 15.1 shall have no liability under clauses 2.1, 2.3, 3.1, 7.3 and 14 for any amounts whatsoever relating to or otherwise in respect of Principal Debt for which the Principal Debtor becomes actually or contingently liable after the Further Principal Debt Release Date relating to that Guarantor (and the "Guaranteed Money" of that Guarantor shall be construed accordingly).

15.2 Full release of a Guarantor:

- (a) Where the Security Trustee has delivered a Further Principal Debt Release to a Guarantor, that Guarantor may, at any time after the date of the Further Principal Debt Release, request to be released from all liability under this deed by delivering to the Security Trustee a duly completed Full Release Request attaching written confirmation from the Principal Debtor (signed by a director of the Principal Debtor) that all Principal Debt for which that Guarantor was liable under this deed has been irrevocably paid in full.
- (b) The Security Trustee shall accept a duly completed Full Release Request complying with the requirements of paragraph (a) by delivering a Full Release to that Guarantor and a copy to the Principal Debtor (who shall notify each other Guarantor) as soon as is reasonably practicable following receipt of the Full Release Request.
- (c) On and from the date of the Full Release, the relevant Guarantor shall be released from all liability under this deed.

15.3 **Release of other Guarantors:** Subject to clauses 15.1 and 15.2, the Security Trustee shall not be obliged to sign or deliver a release of this deed unless the Security Trustee is satisfied that:

- (a) the Security Trustee has received all the Guaranteed Money; and
- (b) no payment received, or to be received, by the Security Trustee may be avoided, or required to be repaid by the Security Trustee, whether under any law relating to insolvency or otherwise.

15.4 **Reinstatement:** If any payment received or recovered by the Security Trustee, or any other person on behalf of the Security Trustee, is or may be avoided, whether by law or otherwise, then:

- (a) such payment shall be deemed not to have affected or discharged the liability of a Guarantor under this deed or any other security given by a Guarantor in favour of the Security Trustee, and the Security Trustee and each Guarantor shall be restored to the position in which each would have been if such payment had not been received or recovered; and
- (b) the Security Trustee shall be entitled to exercise all its rights under this deed which it would have been entitled to exercise if such payment had not been received or recovered,

notwithstanding that the Security Trustee may have signed a release pursuant to this clause 15.

16. MISCELLANEOUS

16.1 **Partial invalidity:** If at any time any provision of this deed is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the law of any relevant jurisdiction, that illegality, invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the enforceability of the remaining provisions of this deed, nor shall the legality, validity or enforceability of any provision under the law of any other jurisdiction be in any way affected or impaired thereby.

16.2 **No implied waivers:** Time shall be of the essence in respect of performance by a Guarantor of its obligations under this deed, but no failure on the part of the Security Trustee or any other Guaranteed Creditor to exercise, and no delay on its part in exercising, any right, power or remedy under this deed or any other document relating to any Principal Debt shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power or remedy preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy.

16.3 **Remedies cumulative:** The rights, powers and remedies provided in this deed are in addition to, and not exclusive of, any rights, powers or remedies provided by law.

16.4 **Consents:** The Security Trustee may give or withhold any approval or consent under this deed in its absolute discretion, and either conditionally or unconditionally.

16.5 **Enforcement:** It shall not be necessary for the Security Trustee to incur any expense or make any payment before enforcing any of the Security Trustee's rights in respect of any obligation of any Guarantor under this deed.

16.6 **Payments on Demand:**

- (a) For the avoidance of doubt, all amounts payable to the Security Trustee under this deed (including all costs and all amounts payable under any indemnity) shall be payable by the relevant Guarantor upon Demand being made on that Guarantor in accordance with the terms of clause 3.4, and form part of the Guaranteed Money of that Guarantor.
- (b) Each Demand shall be in writing, may be made by facsimile, [email](#) or letter, signed by the Security Trustee or an authorised officer of the Security Trustee and must be received in legible form by the relevant Guarantor at the address, [email address](#) or facsimile number, and marked for the attention of the person (if any), from time to time designated by that Guarantor to the Security Trustee for the purposes of this deed.

16.7 **Separate obligations:** Each of the obligations of the Guarantors under the indemnity given in clause 2.3, and under clauses 3.7, 6, 7, 8 and 14, constitute continuing obligations, separate and independent from each of the Guarantors' other obligations under this deed and shall survive payment of the Principal Debt and termination or release of this deed, provided that, the obligations of the Guarantors under clauses ~~2.3~~[2.3](#) and ~~14~~[14](#) are each subject to clauses ~~3.4~~[3.4](#) and ~~3.5~~[3.5](#).

16.8 **Certificates:** A certificate of the Security Trustee as to any amount or fact which might reasonably be expected to be within the Security Trustee's knowledge shall be prima facie evidence of such amount or fact.

16.9 **Annual Rates Income:**

- (a) Each Guarantor shall deliver to the Security Trustee each annual report completed and adopted by it in accordance with sections 98 and 99 of the Act no later than five months after the end of each of its financial years.
- (b) Each Guarantor shall, upon request (in writing) from the Security Trustee, provide the Security Trustee with any such completed and adopted annual report sooner than the five month period referred to in this clause if the Security Trustee advises that it is required for the purposes of clause ~~3.4~~[3.4](#).
- (c) Each Guarantor shall include its Annual Rates Income for the relevant financial year in the audited financial statements (or notes thereto) included in each annual report referred to in this clause 16.9, as a separate identifiable amount.
- (d) In the event of any dispute or uncertainty as to the Annual Rates Income of a Guarantor, the Security Trustee shall determine the amount of that Annual Rates Income, and provided the Security Trustee acts in good faith, that determination shall be binding on all the parties.

16.10 **Obligations of Guarantors:** This deed binds each of the Guarantors which has executed it (or which has become party to this deed by executing a Guarantor Accession Deed) even though one or more of the named Guarantors may never execute this deed.

16.11 **Disclosure by Security Trustee:** Each Guarantor consents to and authorises the Security Trustee to provide any Guaranteed Creditor with information concerning its affairs, financial

condition or business which comes into the possession of the Security Trustee from time to time.

16.12 **Offer documents:** Each Guarantor undertakes that:

- (a) it will promptly:
 - (i) and in any event within 15 Business Days following receipt of a request from the Principal Debtor, provide the Principal Debtor with all information in relation to itself which the Principal Debtor reasonably requests for the purposes of preparing an offering document. The information provided by the Guarantor under this sub-paragraph (a)(i) and paragraph (b) being, "**Disclosure Information**"; and
 - (ii) and in any event within 10 Business Days following receipt of a draft offering document from the Principal Debtor, (acting reasonably and in writing) approve, or provide suggested amendments to, statements in the draft offering document relating to the Guarantor, as identified in writing by the Principal Debtor when providing the draft offering document to the Guarantor ("**Verified Statements**"). Nothing in this clause 16.12 entitles the Guarantor to suggest amendments to any statement in a draft offering document other than those which relate to itself; and

- (b) if it becomes aware of any event having occurred as a result of which any Verified Statement or Disclosure Information would:

(i) be false or misleading, or likely to mislead;

~~(i)~~ (ii) not be true and accurate in all material respects; or

~~(ii)~~ (iii) omit any fact in relation to the Guarantor the omission of which would make misleading in any material respect any Verified Statement or Disclosure Information,

it will promptly notify the Principal Debtor and provide the Principal Debtor with any information required by the Principal Debtor in order to amend or supplement the Offering Document within 10 Business Days of receipt of a request from the Principal Debtor. The provisions of sub-paragraph (a)(ii) shall apply to any draft amendment or supplement to any Offering Document as if such document was a "draft offering document", provided that the timeframe in sub-paragraph (a)(ii) shall be deemed to be 5 Business Days.

16.13 ~~Contracts Privy~~Contract and Commercial Law Act: For the purposes of the ~~Contracts~~ ~~(Privy)~~Contract and Commercial Law Act ~~1982~~2017 the provisions of clause ~~16.12~~16.12 are intended to confer a benefit upon the Principal Debtor and to be enforceable by the Principal Debtor directly.

17. COUNTERPARTS

17.1 **Counterparts:** This deed may be signed in any number of counterparts, all of which will together constitute one and the same instrument, and any of the parties may execute this deed by signing any such counterpart.

18. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

- 18.1 **Governing law:** This deed shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of New Zealand, and the parties hereby submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of New Zealand.

19. NO CROWN GUARANTEE

- 19.1 The parties acknowledge that the obligations and liabilities of the Principal Debtor under this deed are not guaranteed by the Crown.

SIGNATURES

Guarantors

~~AUCKLAND COUNCIL~~ by:

and witnessed by:

Signature of Chief Executive

Name of Chief Executive

Signature of witness

Name of witness

Occupation

City/town of residence

~~BAY OF PLENTY REGIONAL COUNCIL~~

by:

Signature of Chief Executive

Signature of Chairman

Name of Chief Executive

Name of Chairman

~~THE COMMON SEAL OF
CHRISTCHURCH CITY COUNCIL~~ was
affixed in the presence of:

Signature of Authorised Signatory

Name of Authorised Signatory

~~THE COMMON SEAL OF HAMILTON CITY COUNCIL~~ was affixed in the presence of:

Signature of Chief Executive

Signature of Elected Member

Name of Chief Executive
~~THE COMMON SEAL OF HASTINGS DISTRICT COUNCIL~~ was affixed in the presence of:

Name of Elected Member

Signature of the Mayor

Signature of the Deputy Mayor

Name of Mayor

Name of Deputy Mayor

~~THE COUNCIL SEAL OF MASTERTON DISTRICT COUNCIL~~ was affixed in the presence of:

Signature of Mayor

Signature of Chief Executive

Name of Mayor

Name of Chief Executive

~~NEW PLYMOUTH DISTRICT COUNCIL~~ by:

Signature of Council Member

Signature of Council Member

Name of Council Member

Name of Council Member

~~THE COMMON SEAL OF OTOROHONGA DISTRICT COUNCIL~~ was affixed in the presence of:

Signature of Mayor

Signature of Chief Executive

Name of Mayor

Name of Chief Executive

SELWYN DISTRICT COUNCIL by:

Signature of Elected Member

Signature of Elected Member

Name of Elected Member

Name of Elected Member

SOUTH TARANAKI DISTRICT COUNCIL
by:

Signature of Mayor/Deputy Mayor

Signature of Chief Executive

Name of Mayor/Deputy Mayor

Name of Chief Executive

TASMAN DISTRICT COUNCIL by:

and witnessed by:

Signature

Name

Signature of witness

Name of witness

Occupation

City/town of residence

and by:

Signature

Name

Signature of witness

Name of witness

Occupation

City/town of residence

**THE COMMON SEAL OF TAUPO
DISTRICT COUNCIL** was affixed in the
presence of:

Signature of Mayor

Signature of Deputy Mayor

Name of Mayor

Name of Deputy Mayor

TAURANGA CITY COUNCIL by:

Signature of Mayor

Signature of Chief Executive

Name of Mayor

Name of Chief Executive

Signature of Deputy Mayor

Name of Deputy Mayor

WAIPA DISTRICT COUNCIL by:

Signature of Elected Member

Signature of Chief Executive

Name of Elected Member

Name of Chief Executive

WELLINGTON CITY COUNCIL by:

Signature of Elected Member

Signature of Elected Member

Name of Elected Member

Name of Elected Member

WELLINGTON REGIONAL COUNCIL by:

Signature of Elected Member

Signature of Elected Member

Name of Elected Member

Name of Elected Member

~~THE COMMON SEAL OF WESTERN BAY
OF PLENTY DISTRICT COUNCIL~~ was
affixed in the presence of:

~~Signature of Chief Executive~~

~~Name of Chief Executive~~

~~WHANGAREI DISTRICT COUNCIL~~ by:

and witnessed by:

~~Signature of Chief Executive~~

~~Name of Chief Executive~~

~~Signature of witness~~

~~Name of witness~~

~~Occupation~~

~~City/town of residence~~

Security Trustee

SIGNED for and on behalf of **TEL
SECURITY TRUSTEE (LGFA) LIMITED**

by:

Signature of Authorised Signatory

Signature of Authorised Signatory

Name of Authorised Signatory

Name of Authorised Signatory

Signature of witness

Signature of witness

Name of witness

Name of witness

Occupation

Occupation

City/town of residence

City/town of residence

Address: _____ Level 5, 10 Customhouse Quay
 _____ PO Box 3222
 _____ Wellington 6143

Fax: _____ (04) 496 2952

Attention: _____ Business Manager, Corporate Trust

| ~~s~~SCHEDULE [Original execution blocks intentionally deleted]

SCHEDULE 1

Initial Guarantors

INITIAL GUARANTORS	ADDRESS FOR NOTICES
Auckland Council	<p>Delivery Address:</p> <p>1 Greys Avenue 135 Albert Street Auckland Central 1010</p> <p>Postal Address:</p> <p>Private Bag 92300 Victoria Street West Auckland 1142</p> <p>Fax: (09) 368 5964</p> <p>Email: john.bishop@aucklandcouncil.govt.nz</p> <p>Attention: Mark Butcher John Bishop, Group Treasurer</p>
Bay Of Plenty Regional Council	<p>Delivery Address:</p> <p>5 Quay Street Whakatāne</p> <p>Postal Address:</p> <p>P O Box 364 Whakatāne 3158</p> <p>0800 884 882</p> <p>Email: mat.taylor@boprc.govt.nz</p> <p>Attention: Brian Trott Mat Taylor</p>
Christchurch City Council	<p>Delivery Address:</p> <p>Civic Offices 53 Hereford Street Christchurch</p> <p>Postal Address:</p> <p>P O Box 73016 Christchurch 8154</p> <p>Fax: 03 941 8811</p>

INITIAL GUARANTORS

ADDRESS FOR NOTICES

Email: Treasury@ccc.govt.nz

Attention: ~~Paul Anderson~~ [Andrew Jefferies](#)

Hamilton City Council

Delivery Address:

[260 Anglesea Street](#)

Council Building

Garden Place

Hamilton

[3240](#)

Postal Address:

Private Bag 3010

Hamilton 3240

~~Fax: 07 838 6616~~

Email: david.bryant@hcc.govt.nz

Attention: ~~Matthew Walker~~ [David Bryant](#)

Hastings District Council

Delivery Address:

207 Lyndon Road East

Hastings 4122

Postal Address:

Private Bag 9002

Hastings 4156

~~Fax: 06 871 5101~~

Email: brucea@hdc.govt.nz

Attention: ~~Tony Gray~~ [Bruce Allan](#)

Masterton District Council

Delivery Address:

~~64 Chapel Street~~

[27 Lincoln Road](#)

Masterton ~~5840~~ [5810](#)

Postal Address:

PO Box 444

Masterton 5840

INITIAL GUARANTORS

ADDRESS FOR NOTICES

~~Fax: 06 378 8400~~

Email: davidp@mstn.govt.nz

Attention: ~~David Paris~~ [Manager Finance](#)

New Plymouth District Council

Delivery Address:

Liardet St
New Plymouth

Postal Address:
Private Bag 2025
New Plymouth 4342

~~Fax: 06 759 6072~~

Email:
alison.trustrumrainey@npdc.govt.nz /
carla.freeman@npdc.govt.nz

Attention: ~~Philip Armstrong~~ [Alison TrustrumRainey / Carla Freeman](#)

~~Otorohanga~~ [Ōtorohanga](#) District Council

Delivery Address:

17 Maniapoto Street
~~Otorohanga~~ [Ōtorohanga](#) 3940

Postal Address
PO Box 11
~~Otorohanga~~ [Ōtorohanga](#) 3940
~~Fax: 07 873 4300~~

Email: grahamb@otodc.govt.nz

Attention: [Graham Bunn](#)

Selwyn District Council

Delivery Address:

2 Norman Kirk Drive
Rolleston

Postal Address:
P O Box 90
Rolleston 7643
~~Fax: 03 347 2799~~

INITIAL GUARANTORS

ADDRESS FOR NOTICES

Email: Treasury.management@selwyn.govt.nz

Attention: ~~Douglas Marshall~~ [Greg Bell](#)

South Taranaki District Council

Delivery Address:
105-111 Albion Street
Hawera 4610

Postal Address:
Private Bag 902
Hawera 4640

~~Fax: 06 278 8757~~

Email: Vipul.mehta@stdc.govt.nz

Attention: [Vipul Mehta](#)

Tasman District Council

Delivery Address:
189 Queen Street,
Richmond, Nelson 7050

Postal Address
Private Bag 4
Richmond, Nelson 7050

~~Fax: 03 543 9524~~

Email: treasury@tasman.govt.nz

Attention: ~~Murray Stait~~ [Corporate Services Manager](#)

Taupo District Council

Delivery Address:
72 Lake Terrace
Taupo 3330

Postal Address:
Private Bag 2005
Taupo 3352

~~Fax: 07 377 2985~~

Email: nward@taupo.govt.nz

Attention: ~~Rob Williams~~ [Neil Ward](#)

INITIAL GUARANTORS

ADDRESS FOR NOTICES

Tauranga City Council

Delivery Address:
91 Willow Street
Tauranga 3143

Postal Address:
Private Bag 12022
Tauranga 3143

~~Fax: 07-577-7056~~

[Email: treasury.settlements@tauranga.govt.nz](mailto:treasury.settlements@tauranga.govt.nz)

Attention: **Mohan De Mel**

Waipa District Council

Delivery Address:
101 Bank Street
Te Awamutu

Postal Address:
Private Bag 2402
Te Awamutu 3800

~~Fax: 07-872-0033~~

[Email: Farrah.Templeton@waipadc.govt.nz](mailto:Farrah.Templeton@waipadc.govt.nz)

Kumaren.PerumalSarah.Davies@waipadc.govt.nz

Ken.Morris@waipadc.govt.nz

Attention: Ken Morris

Wellington City Council

Delivery Address:
~~101 Wakefield Street~~
[Wellington City Council](#)
[113 The Terrace](#)
Wellington

Postal Address:
PO Box 2199
Wellington 6140

~~Fax: 04-801-3090~~

[Email: martin.read@wcc.govt.nz](mailto:martin.read@wcc.govt.nz)

Attention: ~~Danny McComb~~ [Martin Read](#)

INITIAL GUARANTORS	ADDRESS FOR NOTICES
Wellington Regional Council	<p>Delivery Address: 142 Wakefield Street Shed 39, 2 Fryatt Quay, Pipitea Wellington 6011</p> <p>Postal Address: P O Box 11646 Manners Street Wellington 6142</p> <p>Fax: 04 385 3973 Email: mike.timmer@gw.govt.nz matthias.zuschlag@gw.govt.nz</p> <p>Attention: Mike Timmer</p>
Western Bay Of Plenty District Council	<p>Delivery Address: Barkes Corner Greerton Tauranga</p> <p>Postal Address: Private Bag 12803 Tauranga 3143</p> <p>Fax: 07 577 9280</p> <p>Email: kumaren.perumal@westernbay.govt.nz</p> <p>Attention: Matthew Potten Kumaren Perumal</p>
Whangarei District Council	<p>Delivery Address: Forum North Rust Avenue Whangarei</p> <p>Postal Address: Private Bag 9023 Whangarei 0148</p> <p>Fax: 09 438 7632</p> <p>Email: alan.adcock@wdc.govt.nz</p> <p>Attention: Alan Adcock</p>

SCHEDULE 2

Conditions precedent to be delivered by an Additional Guarantor

1. Accession Documents

- (a) A Guarantor Accession Deed duly executed by the Additional Guarantor.
- (b) A first ranking Security Stock Certificate issued by the Additional Guarantor in favour of the Security Trustee in respect of the Additional Guarantor's obligations under this deed, in a form acceptable to the Security Trustee.

2. Additional Guarantor certificate

A certificate of compliance for the purposes of section 118 of the Act in relation to the [Additional](#) Guarantor's obligations under this deed and the first ranking [Security Stock and Security Stock](#) Certificate described in paragraph 1(b).

3. Legal opinion

Legal opinion addressed to the Security Trustee from legal counsel acceptable to the Security Trustee in relation to the Additional Guarantor's entry into the Guarantor Accession Deed and the issuance of the first ranking Security Stock [and Security Stock](#) Certificate described in paragraph 1(b).

4. Other documents and evidence

- (a) Evidence that all necessary regulatory and statutory authorisations, consents, approvals and licences in relation to the Additional Guarantor's entry into the Guarantor Accession Deed and the issuance of the first ranking Security Stock [and Security Stock](#) Certificate described in paragraph 1(b) have been obtained and are current and satisfactory.
- (b) Notification of the Annual Rates Income in the Financial Statements of the [Additional](#) Guarantor in the most recent financial year for which all Guarantors have prepared and adopted an annual report in accordance with sections 98 and 99 of the Act.
- (c) Any other document or evidence reasonably requested by the Security Trustee.

SCHEDULE 3

Form of Demand

Part 1

Form of initial Demand under clause 3.4(b)

To: [Name of Guarantor] ("**Guarantor**")

From: [Name of Security Trustee] as Security Trustee

Dated:

Dear Sirs

Guarantee and Indemnity dated ~~1~~7 December 2011 ("**Guarantee**")

1. We refer to the Guarantee. Terms defined in the Guarantee have the same meaning when used in this Demand unless given a different meaning in this Demand.
2. We advise that the sum of [NZ\$●] ("**Relevant Amount**") is payable to the Security Trustee under the Guarantee.
3. We further advise that your Relevant Proportion is [●]%, calculated as:

Annual Rates Income for the Relevant Financial Year	
Aggregate Annual Rates Income of all Guarantors for the Relevant Financial Year	

4. We therefore demand payment of the sum of [NZ\$●], being your Relevant Proportion of the Relevant Amount.
5. Payment should be made to the following account by no later than 5:00 pm on [insert date two Business Days after the date of this Demand assuming delivery by courier, [email](#) or fax]:

Name: [●]
 Account Number: [●]
 Bank: [●]

6. This Demand is governed by New Zealand law.

Yours faithfully

[Name of Security Trustee]

By:

Part 2
Form of further Demand under clause 3.4(c)*

To: [Name of Guarantor] ("**Guarantor**")

From: [Name of Security Trustee] as Security Trustee

Dated:

Dear Sirs

Guarantee and Indemnity dated [●] 7 December 2011 ("Guarantee**")**

1. We refer to the Guarantee and to the Demand[s] dated [●] ("**Prior Demand[s]**"). Terms defined in the Guarantee have the same meaning when used in this Demand unless given a different meaning in this Demand.
2. We advise that there is a Shortfall Amount of [NZ\$●].
3. We further advise that your Additional Relevant Proportion is [●]%, calculated as:

Annual Rates Income for the Relevant Financial Year	
Aggregate Annual Rates Income of all Non-Defaulting Guarantors for the Relevant Financial Year	

4. We therefore demand payment of the sum of [NZ\$●], being your Additional Relevant Proportion of the Shortfall Amount.
5. Payment should be made to the following account by no later than 5:00 pm on [insert date two Business Days after the date of this Demand assuming delivery by courier, [email](#) or fax]:

Name: [●]
Account Number: [●]
Bank: [●]

6. This Demand is governed by New Zealand law.

Yours faithfully
[Name of Security Trustee]

By:

* Security Trustee to update the form of notice each time a further Demand is provided under 3.4(d).

SCHEDULE 4

Form of Guarantor Accession Deed

ACCESSION DEED dated

GRANTED BY

[*Name of Additional Guarantor*] ("**Additional Guarantor**")

IN FAVOUR OF

[*Name of Security Trustee*] ("**Security Trustee**")

INTRODUCTION

- A. Each of the Local Authorities listed in schedule 1 to this deed ("**Guarantors**") is party to a guarantee and indemnity ("**Guarantee**") dated ~~17~~ 7 December 2011 in favour of the Security Trustee (whether as a party to the original Guarantee or by becoming a Guarantor pursuant to a deed equivalent to this deed).
- B. The Additional Guarantor is to become a Guarantor under the Guarantee by entering into this deed.

COVENANTS

1. **Definitions:** In this deed, capitalised terms shall have the meanings given to them in the Guarantee unless they are defined in this deed.
2. **Deemed to be a Guarantor:** With effect from the date of this deed, the Additional Guarantor will be deemed to be named as a Guarantor under the Guarantee as if originally included and named in the Guarantee.
3. **Guarantee:** The Additional Guarantor guarantees to the Security Trustee, for the benefit of the Guaranteed Creditors, the due payment or delivery by the Principal Debtor of the Principal Debt. The provisions of the Guarantee shall apply to the guarantee given by the Additional Guarantor under this deed in the same manner, and to the same extent, as if the same had (with all necessary modification) been set out in full in this deed.
4. **Representations and warranties:** The Additional Guarantor makes the representations and warranties in clause 9.1 of the Guarantee in relation to itself to the Security Trustee by reference to the facts and circumstances then existing (and as though each reference in clause 9.1 to Guarantor was to the Additional Guarantor and each reference to the Transaction Documents included this deed).
5. **Attorney:** The Additional Guarantor irrevocably appoints the Security Trustee and every officer of the Security Trustee, individually, to be the attorney of the Additional Guarantor ("**Attorney**") (with full power to delegate the Attorney's powers to any person for any period and to revoke any such delegation) to, on behalf of the Additional Guarantor, do anything which, in the

Attorney's opinion, is desirable to protect the Security Trustee's or any other Guaranteed Creditor's interests under this deed and/or the Guarantee, and the Additional Guarantor hereby ratifies anything done by the Attorney or any delegate in accordance with this clause 4.

6. **Implied provisions:** For the purposes of section 14 of the Property Law Act 2007, the Additional Guarantor acknowledges that this deed is, and for all purposes and at all times shall be construed as being, supplemental to the Guarantee.

7. **Address for notice:** The initial address, facsimile number, [email address](#) and contact person (if any) of the Additional Guarantor for the service of notices is:

Address: [•]

Fax: [•]

[Email:](#) [•]

Attention: [•]

8. **Governing law:** This deed shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with the laws of New Zealand, and the parties hereby submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of New Zealand.—

9. [\[CCO\]: \[Include if Additional Guarantor is a CCO Shareholder\]](#).

9.1 [\[CCO Shareholder\]: \[As at the date of this deed, the Additional Guarantor is a CCO Shareholder in respect of: \[specify each relevant CCO Issuer\]\]](#).

EXECUTED AS A DEED

Additional Guarantor

[Execution block to be inserted]

SCHEDULE 1

Existing Guarantors

[Insert names of existing Guarantors]

SCHEDULE 5

Part 1 Form of Further Principal Debt Release Request

To: [Name of Security Trustee] as Security Trustee

From: [Name of terminating Guarantor]

Dated:

Guarantee and Indemnity dated ~~17~~ 7 December 2011 ("Guarantee")

1. We refer to the Guarantee.
2. This is a Further Principal Debt Release Request. Terms defined in the Guarantee shall have the same meaning in this Further Principal Debt Release Request.
3. We request pursuant to clause 15.1 of the Guarantee that we be released from all liability under the Guarantee for or in relation to further Principal Debt to be incurred by the Principal Debtor.
4. We confirm that:
 - (a) [we are not a holder of ordinary shares of the Principal Debtor, as evidenced by the current share register of the Principal Debtor showing that the Guarantor is not a holder of ordinary shares of the Principal Debtor, a certified copy of which is attached to this Further Principal Debt Release Request] **OR** [we have given a valid Sale Notice in accordance with the Shareholders' Agreement in respect of all of our ordinary shares in the Principal Debtor, and were in accordance with clause 10.6 of the Shareholders' Agreement permitted to transfer such shares within the period referred to in that clause, but despite our commercially reasonable endeavours to do so, were unable to effect such a transfer in that period, as evidenced by the letter from the Principal Debtor (signed by a director) attached to this Further Principal Debt Release Request]; *[delete option as applicable]* and
 - (b) all amounts which may be or become payable by us to the Principal Debtor and, where we are a CCO Shareholder, the relevant CCO Issuer(s) under or in connection with the Multi-~~Issuer~~ issuer Deed and the Securities issued by us and the relevant CCO Issuer(s) (if any) have been irrevocably paid in full, as evidenced by the letter from the Principal Debtor (signed by a director) attached to this Further Principal Debt Release Request.

Yours faithfully
[Name of terminating Guarantor]

By:

[Attach supporting documents]

Part 2
Form of Further Principal Debt Release

To: [Name of terminating Guarantor]

Copy to: New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited

From: [Name of Security Trustee] as Security Trustee

Dated:

Guarantee and Indemnity dated ~~10~~ 7 December 2011 ("Guarantee")

1. We refer to the Guarantee and your Further Principal Debt Release Request dated [●].
2. This is a Further Principal Debt Release. Terms defined in the Guarantee shall have the same meaning in this Further Principal Debt Release unless given a different meaning in this Further Principal Debt Release.
3. We confirm that with effect from the date of this Further Principal Debt Release (the "**Further Principal Debt Release Date**"), you:
 - (a) shall be released from all liability under the Guarantee in respect of all Principal Debt for which the Principal Debtor becomes actually or contingently liable after the Further Principal Debt Release Date; and
 - (b) shall continue to be liable under the Guarantee in respect of all Principal Debt for which the Principal Debtor is actually or contingently liable as at the Further Principal Debt Release Date (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any amounts actually or contingently payable under any swap transactions entered into by the Principal Debtor on or prior to the Further Principal Debt Release Date).
4. We request the Principal Debtor to notify the other Guarantors of this Further Principal Debt Release in accordance with clause ~~15.1(f)~~ 15.1(e) of the Guarantee.

Yours faithfully
[Name of Security Trustee]

By:

SCHEDULE 6

Part 1 Form of Full Release Request

To: [Name of Security Trustee] as Security Trustee

From: [Name of terminating Guarantor]

Dated:

Guarantee and Indemnity dated ~~17~~ 7 December 2011 ("Guarantee")

1. We refer to the Guarantee.
2. This is a Full Release Request. Terms defined in the Guarantee shall have the same meaning in this Full Release Request.
3. We request to cease to be a Guarantor pursuant to clause 15.2 of the Guarantee.
4. We confirm that all Principal Debt for which we were liable under the Guarantee has been irrevocably paid in full, as evidenced by the written confirmation from the Principal Debtor (signed by a director of the Principal Debtor) to that effect attached to this Full Release Request.

Yours faithfully
[Name of terminating Guarantor]

By:

[Attach supporting letter]

Part 2
Form of Full Release

To: [Name of terminating Guarantor]

Copy to: New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency Limited

From: [Name of Security Trustee] as Security Trustee

Dated:

Guarantee and Indemnity dated ~~17~~ 7 December 2011 ("Guarantee")

1. We refer to the Guarantee and your Full Release Request dated [●]. This is a Full Release. Terms defined in the Guarantee shall have the same meaning in this Full Release.
2. With effect from the date of this Full Release the Security Trustee releases you from the Guarantee.
3. However, notwithstanding the release given in paragraph 2, if any payment received or recovered by the Security Trustee, or any other person on the Security Trustee's behalf, is or may be avoided, whether by law or otherwise, then:
 - (a) such payment shall be deemed not to have affected or discharged your liability as a Guarantor under the Guarantee or any other security given by you as a Guarantor in favour of the Security Trustee, and the Security Trustee and you shall be restored to the position in which each would have been if such payment had not been received or recovered; and
 - (b) the Security Trustee shall be entitled to exercise all its rights under the Guarantee which it would have been entitled to exercise if such payment had not been received or recovered.
4. We request the Principal Debtor to notify the other Guarantors of this Full Release in accordance with clause 15.2(b) of the Guarantee.

Yours faithfully
[Name of Security Trustee]

By: